SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

Case No. 79669

GREENMART OF NEVADA NLV LLC,; an Apr 15 2020 09:17 a.m.

NEVADA ORGANIC REMEDIES, LLC

Appellants/Cross-Respondents,

Electronically Filed

Electronically Filed

Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

ETW MANAGEMENT GROUP LLC; GLOBAL HARMONY LLC; GREEN LEAF FARMS HOLDINGS LLC; GREEN THERAPEUTICS LLC; HERBAL CHOICE INC.; JUST QUALITY LLC; LIBRA WELLNESS CENTER LLC; ROMBOUGH REAL ESTATE INC. D/B/A MOTHER HERB; NEVCANN LLC; RED GARDENS LLC; THC NEVADA LLC; ZION GARDENS LLC; and MMOF VEGAS RETAIL INC.,

Respondents/Cross-Appellants,

and

THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION, Respondent,

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 22, 2019, Judge Elizabeth Gonzalez temporarily coordinated a preliminary injunction hearing in four cases filed by several unsuccessful applicants for Nevada recreational marijuana establishment licenses (the "Unsuccessful Applicants"). The cases were filed against the State of Nevada, Department of Taxation, and each lawsuit challenged the 2018 process the Department used to accept and review applications for recreational marijuana licenses and challenged the allocation of licenses. Judge Gonzalez's coordination of cases was limited to conducting an evidentiary hearing on motions for preliminary injunctions filed by the Unsuccessful Applicants.

Nevada Organic Remedies, LLC ("NOR") was a successful applicant in the licensing process and received seven conditional licenses. Along with several other recipients of conditional licenses (the "Successful Applicants"), NOR intervened in the coordinated cases, opposed the preliminary injunctions, and participated in the evidentiary hearing.

_

¹ The four coordinated cases were *Serenity Wellness Center, LLC et al. v. Department Of Taxation*, Case No. A-19-786962-B; *ETW Management Group, LLC et al. v. Department Of Taxation*, Case No. A-19-787004-B; *MM Development Company, Inc. et al. v. Department Of Taxation*, Case No. A-18-785818-W; and *Nevada Wellness Center, LLC v. Department Of Taxation*, Case No. A-19-787540-W.

The Unsuccessful Applicants' motions for a preliminary injunction were based on assertions that the licensing process was flawed and that their claimed rights to a license were impacted by the Department's faulty process. The Unsuccessful Applicants used the evidentiary hearing as a vehicle to engage in a four-month investigation into every aspect of the licensing process, attacking nearly every decision the Department made in accepting and grading applications in hopes of finding a reversible flaw.

While the district court rejected the vast majority of the Unsuccessful Applicants' arguments, it granted a preliminary injunction on a single legal issue, finding that the Department, in promulgating NAC 453D.255(1), improperly modified NRS 453D.200(6), which requires the Department to conduct a background check of "each prospective owner" of a license applicant. NAC 453D.255(1) purported to limit the application of NRS 453D.200(6) to those owners "with an aggregate ownership interest of 5 percent or more in a marijuana establishment." Determining that the adoption of NAC 453D.255 and its 5% threshold was an "impermissible deviation" from Ballot Question 2, the court issued a preliminary injunction enjoining the Department from conducting a final inspection for any applicant that did not include "each prospective owner" in its application. The court further tasked the Department with determining which Successful Applicants submitted applications that did not comply with the court's interpretation of NRS 453D.200(6). To the extent the Department determined that an applicant had not complied, the Department would be enjoined from conducting a final inspection of that applicant. This would effectively prevent those applicants from opening for business.

In making its decision, the district court ignored the fact that the same 5% rule was already in place at NAC 453A.302 for the regulation of medical marijuana establishments. This regulation was adopted and has been applied since 2014. In fact, each of the September 2018 applicants for recreational licenses were required by statute to already be medical marijuana license holders, so the same 5% ownership threshold already applied to these applicants. Similar 5% ownership thresholds are codified in Nevada's gaming statutes and federal securities regulations, and this ownership threshold is a reasonable and necessary provision to permit the Department to regulate the industry. Both the Department and other witnesses testified during the hearing that it would be impossible to conduct background checks of every single owner of an establishment if that establishment is a public company whose shareholders may change on a daily basis.

By rejecting the 5% rule, the district court not only failed to provide the Department the deference it was due but also adopted a rigid interpretation of NRS 453D.200(6) that would effectively bar any publicly traded company from operating in the industry. Such an outcome ignores the reality that numerous

publicly traded companies are already operating both medical and recreational marijuana establishments in the State of Nevada. The statute does not indicate any intention to bar publicly traded companies from operating marijuana establishments in the state, and in fact, it explicitly states an intention to avoid making the operation of a marijuana establishment "unreasonably impracticable." *See* NRS 453D.200(1). The district court's rejection of the 5% rule not only ignores agency deference and contradicts the terms of the statute but also harms the entire industry, as publicly traded companies own and operate many of the best establishments in the state of Nevada.

In addition to the above, the preliminary injunction should also be overturned because (1) the court did not articulate any irreparable harm to the Unsuccessful Applicants, (2) the Unsuccessful Applicants lacked standing and should have been estopped from asserting the 5% rule as a basis for an injunction, and (3) the court arbitrarily applied the injunction only to NOR and a limited set of other Successful Applicants.

V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The Recreational Marijuana License Application Process

The initiative to legalize recreational marijuana, Ballot Question 2 ("BQ2"), was approved by Nevada voters in 2016. BQ2 was enacted and codified as NRS 453D.

As the government agency charged with the implementation of the Nevada recreational marijuana program under NRS 453D.200(1), the State of Nevada Department of Taxation (the "Department") was required to "adopt all regulations necessary or convenient to carry out the provisions of" NRS 453D. The Department did so, and these regulations were adopted in early 2018 as NAC Chapter 453D.

In September 2018, pursuant to NRS 453D and NAC 453D, the Department accepted applications for licenses to open recreational marijuana establishments throughout Nevada. It received over 460 applications, all from applicants who already held medical marijuana licenses in the state. (*See*, 47 AA 011569-011575 for a list of all applicants).² Pursuant to NRS 453D.210(4), the Department had 90 days to grade and rank the qualifying applications, and it finished the task using qualified independent contractors hired for this specific purpose in order to protect the grading process from bias. (*See*, 33 AA 008243-008244). The Department awarded conditional licenses to the highest scoring applicants on December 5, 2018. (*See*, 47 AA 011569-011575 for a list the successful applicants). With only

_

² Under NRS 453D.210(2), the Department was only permitted to receive applications from parties who already held a medical marijuana establishment registration certificate pursuant to NRS Chapter 453A. Most of the entities that applied also already held a recreational marijuana license through the "early start program," which allowed existing medical establishments to open recreational establishments before the 2018 application period began.

61 licenses available, and over 460 applications submitted, many applicants that were already successfully operating marijuana establishments in Nevada were unsuccessful in obtaining a license.

At the time the applications were submitted, many applicants—both successful and unsuccessful—were owned in whole or in part by publicly traded companies. (*See*, *e.g.* 42 AA 010353, 010354; 43 AA 010521; 43 AA 010681-010684; 44 AA 010834). Other applicants were acquired by publicly traded companies soon after applications were submitted and before the preliminary injunction hearing took place. (*See*, *e.g.*, 44 AA 010781, 42 AA 010355, 101356). At the time its application was submitted, NOR had sold 95% of its membership interest to GGB Nevada, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of a publicly traded Canadian corporation.³

B. Unsuccessful Applicants File Lawsuits

After being notified of the conditional license results, many Unsuccessful Applicants assumed the Department must have erred in grading the applications.

__

³ On September 4, 2018, NOR completed a transaction whereby it sold 95% of its membership interest to GGB Nevada LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Xanthic Biopharma, Inc ("Xanthic"). Xanthic, now known as Green Growth Brands, Inc., was and remains a publicly traded Canadian corporation listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange. The remaining 5% of NOR membership interest was to be transferred upon the satisfaction of an outstanding promissory note between GGB Nevada and the NOR sellers, which note was satisfied on August 27, 2019. *See*, NOR's Organizational Chart submitted with its application and produced as 47 AA 011576 -011590.

They filed numerous lawsuits against the Department challenging the application process and alleging improprieties in the applications themselves, in their scoring, and in the allocation of licenses among applicants. (*See*, 1-2 AA 000013-000372.) Several of the Successful Applicants, including NOR, intervened in the lawsuits to protect their conditional license rights and defend the Department's process. (*See*, *e.g.*, 4 AA 000986-000990; 5 AA 001127-001137; 6 AA 001289-001292; 6 AA 001308-001312; 8 AA 001820-001821).

Plaintiffs in four of the cases filed motions for preliminary injunction against the Department, seeking to enjoin the opening of any new establishments under the conditional licenses. (4 AA 000769-000878, 6 AA 001355-001407, 11 AA 002535-002540). Judge Gonzalez coordinated four of the cases in Department XI of the Eighth Judicial District solely for the purpose of holding an evidentiary hearing on these motions. (20 AA 004938-004940).

The evidentiary hearing began on May 24, 2019, and did not conclude until four months later, on August 23, 2019. (Transcripts at 29-46 AA 007170-011332). The moving parties—all of which were Unsuccessful Applicants—used those four months to conduct an extensive (and unwarranted) in-court fishing expedition into the entire application process, searching for a fatal flaw to justify setting it aside. The Unsuccessful Applicants made myriad arguments throughout the hearing, challenging everything from the Department's inclusion of diversity as a grading

criterion, (*See*, *e.g.*, 45 AA 011108, 011109), to its scoring of locations, (*See*, *e.g.*, 45 AA011102-011104), to its use of outside contractors in the grading process. (See, *e.g.*, 45 AA 011156).

C. The Provision to Conduct a Background Check of "Each Prospective Owner" Issue Is Raised During the Preliminary Injunction Hearing

NRS 453D.200(6) requires the Department to "conduct a background check of each prospective owner, officer, and board member of a marijuana establishment license applicant." Background checks work to preserve public safety, as they help to exclude owners, officers, and board members who have excluded felonies or other histories that would pose a risk to the public. *See* NRS 453D.020(1).

In considering ownership of applicants, the Department adopted a regulation in NAC 453D.255(1) providing that, among other things, the background check requirement would "only apply to a person with an aggregate ownership interest of 5 percent or more in a marijuana establishment" (the "5% rule") (emphasis added). An identical 5% rule had been adopted in 2014 for medical marijuana establishments (*see* NAC 453A.302), and witnesses from the Department testified that the 5% rule was a reasonable interpretation of the statute that was necessary to allow the Department to regulate the industry while also ensuring that "the interests of the State are protected" as well as "public safety." (39 AA 010068).

The adoption of the 5% rule was not a surprise. It had been specifically requested by the industry and was expressly recommended by the Governor's Task Force in 2017 through a working group headed by one of the principals of the Unsuccessful Applicants, John Ritter. (46 AA 011436, 011437).⁴ Before these regulations were adopted in 2018, the Department complied with the process for drafting regulations, sending them to workshops, and submitting them to the Legislative Council and to the Legislative Commission for approval. (39 AA 010109).

The 5% rule serves to ensure that the Department need not conduct background checks of minor shareholders who have no ability to control a company. This regulation especially considered the practical regulation of publicly traded companies—which included both Successful and Unsuccessful Applicants—so that the Department would not be required to conduct background checks on hundreds, or even thousands, of nominal shareholders who have no real ability to control the company, and whose shares may trade hands multiple times each day.

_

⁴ John Ritter, an advisory board member, manager, and previous owner of Respondent TGIG, LLC, was one of Respondents' primary witnesses in the evidentiary hearing. Ritter was a sponsor for the "Taxation/Revenue/Regulatory Structure Working Group" on the Governor's Task Force that expressly recommended the 5% rule be adopted by the Department as a regulation. (46 AA 011493).

NOR is one of many marijuana licensees that have a publicly traded parent company. Others include GreenMart and the Essence entities on the Successful Applicant side, (44 AA 010781), and, among the Unsuccessful Applicants, MM Development, which owns Nevada's largest dispensary, Planet 13, (42 AA 010353, 010354), Serenity Wellness, (43 AA 010521), LivFree Wellness, (42 AA 010355, 101356), GB Sciences, (44 AA 010834), and Green Leaf Farms all have public ownership. (43 AA 010681-010684). Each of these entities are already operating medical and recreational marijuana establishments in the State under existing regulations.

Before the evidentiary hearing, none of the Unsuccessful Applicants raised the 5% rule or its application to the requirements of NRS 453D.200(6). (*See*, all Complaints and Motions for Preliminary Injunction cited above). It was not until the middle of the evidentiary hearing, when the same John Ritter who recommended the 5% rule to the Governor's Task Force was called as a witness and stated his new belief (which was in direct contradiction to the recommendations contained in the Governor's Task Force Report) that the argument that the 5% rule somehow violated NRS 453D.200(6) became an issue. (29 AA 007386).

D. The District Court Finds the 5% Rule to Be an "Impermissible Deviation" from BQ2 and Issues a Preliminary Injunction on this Basis

After Mr. Ritter mentioned the 5% rule, the district court seized upon the issue and made it a central focus of the hearing. During the evidentiary hearing, the district court expressed its belief that because the recreational marijuana statute was passed by voter initiative, the Department's ability to adopt regulations interpreting the statute was limited. The court frequently stated that it believed the Department had less deference in adopting regulations arising from ballot questions than it did in interpreting statutes passed by the legislature due to Article 19, section 2 of the Nevada Constitution, which states that "[a]n initiative measure ... shall not be amended ... by the legislature within 3 years from the date it takes effect."

During the hearing, the district court criticized the Department's adoption of the 5% rule as an improper amendment to the language of the statute. For example, the court asked Jorge Pupo, Executive Director of the Marijuana Enforcement Division for the Department: "Sir, can you explain to me why the Department thought it was a good idea to change the language of the ballot question which

⁵ Judge Gonzalez asked for pocket briefs to address distinctions in agency discretion in passing regulations "related to an initiative petition, as opposed to legislation." (*See*, 34 AA 008276-008277).

said that you had to check each prospective owner's background and change it to anyone who held a 5 percent interest or more?" (37 AA 009168).

Later, former Executive Director Deonne Contine, who was primarily responsible for the Department's adoption of the regulations in NAC 453D, explained that the Department's decision to adopt the 5% rule among other regulations found "a balance of the unduly burdensome and the public safety...and having the regulation go through the process. I believe that it was protecting the public health and safety. And the regulations complied with the statute." The court immediately challenged Ms. Contine's explanation by asking: "So, Ma'am, you believed you could substitute your judgments for the voters' of the State of Nevada?" Contine responded: "I believe that we went through the process that we went through and we interpreted the provisions and we considered all the responsibilities that we had under the initiative. And I believe that the regulation was validly adopted and it is valid, yes." (42 AA 010292-010293).

Despite the Department's explanation of the purpose and utility of the 5% rule and its existing use in the medical marijuana realm, Judge Gonzalez held that the 5% rule was invalid. The court's FFCL cited Article 19 of the Nevada Constitution and found, "Where, as here, amendment of a voter-initiated law is temporally precluded from amendment for three years, the administrative agency may not modify the law." (22 AA 005294 ¶63, 005295 ¶66). It further held that

"the Department's decision 'to not require disclosure on the application and to not conduct background checks on persons owning less than 5% prior to award of a conditional license is an **impermissible deviation** from the **mandatory language** of ... NRS 453D.200(6)." (22 AA 005298 ¶82.) Based solely upon this "impermissible deviation," the court found a likelihood of success on the merits justifying an injunction.

E. The Court Uses an Irregular Process to Determine the Scope of the Injunction

After finding the 5% rule to be an "impermissible deviation" from the statute, the district court attempted to tailor the injunction. It enjoined the Department from conducting required pre-opening final inspections for any establishment of any Successful Applicants who "did not provide the identification of each prospective owner, officer and board member as required by NRS 453D.200(6) pending a trial on the merits." (22 AA 005300). With final inspections required for an establishment to open for business, the injunction effectively precluded any Successful Applicant from opening if the Department determined that not every owner may have been listed on the application.

On the last day of the evidentiary hearing, the district court requested the Attorney General's office (the "AG"), which represented the Department, to provide a list of "[w]hich successful applicants completed the application in compliance with NRS 453D.200(6)." (46 AA 011329-011330). The purported

purpose of this request was to determine which applicants may be subject to the injunction.

Though NRS 453D.200(6) is an obligation *on the Department* to conduct background checks and not a requirement for applicants to "complete their applications," the AG attempted to respond to the court's instruction. The AG eventually sent an email placing each Successful Applicant into one of three "Tiers." (46 AA 011406-011407). Tier 1 was defined to include all Successful Applicants that had not intervened in the actions. In identifying Tier 1 members, the Department did *not* check ownership, instead relying on the "applicants' attestations regarding who their owners, officers, and board members were at the time of the application." These applicants, for reasons that remain unexplained, were automatically deemed to have complied with NRS 453D.200(6).

Tier 2 included those intervenors "whose applications were complete with reference to NRS 453D.200(6) if the Department of Taxation accepts as truthful who their owners, officers, and board members were." (46 AA 011406-011407).

Finally, Tier 3 included any Successful Applicant for which the AG "could not eliminate a question as to the completeness of their applications with reference to NRS 453D.200(6)." (Id.). Four Successful Applicants were placed in Tier 3, including NOR. The AG offered multiple, differing explanations as to why it classified certain parties as Tier 3, including statements about applicants being

"acquired by a publicly traded company," or having a "subsidiary of a publicly traded company [that] owned a membership interest in the applicant."(*Id.*).

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