IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

GREENMART OF NEVADA NLV LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY: NEVADA ORGANIC REMEDIES, LLC,

Appellants,

VS.

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

the proposition that businesses should be regulated in a manner similar to other legal businesses. Greenmart also points to these section of NRS Chapter 453D for the proposition that the plaint language of NRS 453D.200(6) goes against the plain language of the statute. These are odd arguments because many other legal businesses do not require background checks of any owners to procure a license. Further, NRS 453D.020(3)(b) specifically contemplates background checks on each business owner applying for licenses to produce or sell marijuana.

Strangely, NOR then attempts to liken this 5% rule to the regulations over liquor distributors. But the regulations and statutes involving liquor licenses (NRS Chapter 369 and NAC Chapter 369) have no background check requirement at all, and also have no 5% language. It is understandable that NOR wants this Court to read the 5% rule into the language of the statute based on the difficulty of background checking publicly-traded companies, since NOR is partially owned by such a company. Further, NOR may be correct that publicly traded companies are "the safest, best-organized, and most self-sufficient operators" of marijuana establishments (although NOR cites to no source to substantiate that assertion). NOR AOB at 36. But there is no indication that the drafters intended for background checks to apply only to those with a 5% ownership interest. And there is no indication that the drafters or the statutory scheme as a whole intended for the process to be easier for publicly traded companies. Forcing ambiguity into this

statute to allow the Department to eschew the background check requirement for owners with less than a 5% interest would amount to legislating by the Department. Therefore, NOR and Greenmart's arguments fail as a matter of law.

B. The Department is not Entitled to Any Deference.

NOR and Greenmart mistakenly frame their arguments around whether the district court erred by not giving deference to the Department. NOR AOB 23-26; Greenmart AOB 34-38. Nevertheless, the Department is entitled to deference, if, and only if, its interpretation is within the plain language of the statute. As such, ETW Plaintiffs follow the ordinary rules of statutory interpretation and begin with the plain language of the statute. After discerning the plain language of NRS 453D.200(6), the Department's interpretation clearly is outside of the language of the statute—and therefore is not entitled to deference.

A Nevada administrative agency may be afforded deference in its interpretation of an enabling statute giving it the authority to promulgate regulations, but this deference applies "only if the [agency's] interpretation is within the language of the statute." *UMC Physicians' Bargaining Unit of Nevada Serv. Employees Union*, 124 Nev. 84, 89, 178 P.3d 709, 712 (2008) (emphasis added). Meaning that the agency's interpretation must not conflict with the plain meaning of the statute, nor the legislature's intended construction of the statute. *Nevada Power Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of Nevada*, 102 Nev. 1, 4, 711

P.2d 867, 869 (1986); see also Nuleaf, 134 Nev. at 133, 414 P.3d at 308 (holding that an agency's interpretation is entitled to deference unless it "conflicts with the constitution or other statutes, exceeds the agency's powers, or is otherwise arbitrary and capricious."); Collins Disc. Liquors & Vending v. State, 106 Nev. 766, 768, 802 P.2d 4, 5 (1990) ("[G]reat deference should be given to the agency's interpretation when it is within the language of the statute." (emphasis added)).

Additionally, even if deference to the agency could be proper, this Court "may decide purely legal questions without deference to an agency's determination," and therefore can "undertake [an] independent review of the construction of a statute." *Bacher v. Office of State Eng'r of State of Nevada*, 122 Nev. 1110, 1117, 146 P.3d 793, 798 (2006). This is because the "interpretation of the statute by the agency charged with administration of the statute is persuasive," but not controlling. *Nevada Power Co.*, 102 Nev. at 4, 711 P.2d at 869.

Here, NOR makes no effort to show that the Department's interpretation is within the language of the statute. NOR gives no plain language analysis, nor does NOR make any attempt to define terms that it arbitrarily and in a conclusory manner determines to be "ambiguous." Certainly, there is no ambiguity when NRS 453D.200(6) states that "[t]he Department **shall** conduct a background check **of each prospective owner**, officer, and board member of a marijuana establishment license applicant." (emphasis added). As explained above, "owner" (and "each")

have clear definitions. This is unambiguous. Allowing the Department to enact a regulation contrary to the plain language of the statute would amount to legislation by the executive branch - no deference is warranted.

NOR also argues that the district court erred by failing to give the Department deference because of Article 19, section 2, clause 3 of the Nevada Constitution. While it is true that the district court mentioned this constitutional provision, NOR completely overstates the district court's reliance on it in denving the Department deference. Just one look at the Preliminary Injunction Order shows that the district court found that the plain language of the statute compelled the Department to background check each owner. The district court explained that "[t]he [Department's] decision to not require disclosure on the application and to not conduct background checks of persons owning less than 5% prior to award of a conditional license is an **impermissible deviation** from the mandatory language of BQ2, which mandated 'a background check of each prospective owner, officer, and board member of a marijuana establishment license applicant." See RA Vol. X, at 1926:4-9 (emphasis added).

Greenmart repeats NOR's argument nearly verbatim. Greenmart AOB 38-41. But Greenmart also adds the fact that, under federal deference principles, an administrative agency is given even more deference when interpreting a new statutory scheme. Greenmart AOB 39 (*citing TexacoInc. v. Dep't of Energy*, 663

F.2d 158, 165 (D.C. Cir. 1980)). Putting aside the fact that federal deference standards are substantially different than the state deference standards, and putting aside the fact that federal deference standards have weakened significantly since the 1980 case it cites,8 this argument is completely inapplicable to the factual situation of this case. The fact of the matter is that the Department cannot go beyond the language of the enabling statute and be entitled to any deference. See, e.g., Collins Disc. Liquors & Vending, 106 Nev. at 768, 802 P.2d at 5. Additionally, the district court, as well as this court, may "undertake [an] independent review of the construction of a statute" when interpreting whether regulation is consistent with the enabling statute. Bacher, 122 Nev. at 1117, 146 P.3d at 798. Thus, Nevada law gives no special deference to an agency interpretation of a new statute. Rather, the Department's regulation can never go beyond the language of the enabling statute. And if they do, then the Department's

_

⁷ See Michael Pappas, No Two-Stepping in the Laboratories: State Deference Standards and Their Implications for Improving the Chevron Doctrine, 79 MCGEORGE L. REV. 977, 984-85, 1018 (2008) (explaining that state deference to agency interpretations range from strong deference to de novo review and that Nevada courts utilize intermediate deference in which they reserve the right to review legal questions *de novo*).

⁸ See Jowanna N. Oates, Saying Goodbye to Chevron and Auer: New Developments in Agency Deference Doctrine, 91 FLORIDA BAR J. 6, 43 (2017) ("Nevertheless, it appears that at the federal level, the agency deference doctrine may be, as Justice Thomas remarked, 'on its last gasp."); see also Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S. Ct. 2400, 2410-11 (2019) (gutting Auer Deference).

interpretation is entitled to *no* deference. So, even assuming that federal case law that Greenmart cites is current (it is not), Nevada law differs from the federal standards that Greenmart relies on.

Thus, because the regulation conflicts with NRS 453D.200(6), the regulation is invalid, and amounted to a change of the plain language of the statute that the Department was required to enforce. Thus, the district court interpreted the plain language of the statute to conflict with the Department's regulation, and therefore invalidated it. This was not an invalid application of the law because the Department's regulation fell outside the plain language of the statute. Therefore, the Department's regulation was not entitled to any deference, and the district court did not err by declining to give deference to the Department's interpretative authority in enacting the 5% threshold. Holding otherwise would allow the Department to unlawfully amend the statutory language of a ballot initiative in violation of Article 19, Section 2 of the Nevada Constitution.

C. <u>ETW Plaintiffs Have Standing to Pursue their Claims.</u>

NOR and Greenmart argue that plaintiffs lack standing because they allegedly incurred no injury. NOR AOB 37-39; Greenmart AOB 26-29. Even though NOR did not raise this argument in the district court, ETW Plaintiffs recognize that this is a jurisdictional question, and address it notwithstanding this

error. ⁹ This standing argument is completely unsubstantiated and should be summarily rejected.

At the outset, NOR and Greenmart rely on a footnote in the 1996 case *Miller* v. Ignacio, 112 Nev. 930, 936 n.4, 921 P.2d 882, 885 n.4 (1996), in which this Court indicated, in dicta, that it would follow the federal standing standard. Since then, this Court has held that strict federal standing requirements do not need to be met for a plaintiff to have standing in Nevada state courts. See Stockmeier v. Nevada Dep't of Corr. Psychological Review Panel, 122 Nev. 385, 393, 135 P.3d 220, 225 (2006), abrogated on other grounds by Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 181 P.3d 670 (2008) ("[S]tanding is a self-imposed rule of restraint. State courts need not become enmeshed in the federal complexities and technicalities involving standing and are free to reject procedural frustrations in favor of just and expeditious determination on the ultimate merits."). Thus, ETW Plaintiffs are not compelled to show the federal constitutional standing components of injury, causation, and redressability. *Id*.

Instead, ETW Plaintiffs must show that a justiciable controversy in which parties have an interest in the underlying claims and defenses exists. *See Doe v. Bryan*, 102 Nev. 523, 525, 728 P.2d 443, 444 (1986) (explaining the state justiciability requirements in the context of a declaratory judgment claim). In other

⁹Greenmart did raise the standing issue in the district court.

words, to have standing a party must have some sort of beneficial interest in the litigation. *See Heller v. Legislature of State of Nev.*, 120 Nev. 456, 461, 93 P.3d 746, 749 (2004) This Court long ago defined a justiciable controversy for purposes of declaratory relief as "a controversy in which a claim of right is asserted against one who has an interest in contesting it." *Kress v. Corey*, 65 Nev. 1, 26, 189 P.2d 352, 364 (1948). Indeed, NRS 30.040(1) requires only that a person's "rights, status or other legal relations [be] affected by a statute" to be entitled to "determin[ation of] any question of construction or validity arising under the . . . statute. . .[and to] obtain a declaration of rights, status or other legal relations thereunder."

Here, the ETW Plaintiffs have a beneficial interest to bring this claim due to the fact that they were harmed by the Department's abject failure to properly enforce the statutory mandates of NRS Chapter 453D. The district court found, in its FFCL, that **several** of the actions taken by the Department during the application process, including failure to background check each owner of the applicants prior to issuing the licenses, were "fatal to the application process." *See* RA Vol. X, at 1919:17-1920:18. ETW Plaintiffs have standing to challenge the Department's unlawful actions because the actions directly contributed to the issuance of licenses in violation of the statute to entities that should not have been awarded licenses, instead of ETW Plaintiffs. It thereby affected the competitive

bidding process for licenses, in which ETW Plaintiffs were competitors. Additionally, ETW Plaintiffs have a reasonable expectation that the Department will follow the statute in promulgating the regulations that constitute the competitive bidding process, which they were in competition for a recreational license. Thus, the ETW Plaintiffs are clearly interested parties in this litigation, based on their injury that resulted from the Department not following the enabling statute.

NOR attempts to preempt this injury argument by relying on Hauer v. BRDD of Indiana, Inc., 654 N.E.2d 316 (Ind. Ct. App. 1995), for the proposition that standing cannot be asserted for an injury that the law was not designed to protect. NOR AOB 38 n.12. Greenmart makes an identical argument, also claiming that ETW Plaintiffs have no injury based on a similar rationale. Greenmart AOB 27 -28. This *Hauer* case is completely inapposite, and the ETW Plaintiffs have a cognizable injury. In *Hauer*, an Indiana appellate court held that a permitted firework distributor did not have a property interest in certificates of compliance issued to competitors in order to have standing to enjoin the issuance of such certificates. *Id.* at 319. The court determined that the purpose of the statute relating to certificates of compliance that the firework distributor attempted to rely on was to assure citizen safety by instituting safeguards. *Id.* Here, on the other hand, ETW Plaintiffs do not allege that they have a property interest in any of the intervening

defendant's retail licenses. Instead, ETW Plaintiffs have a statutory right to an impartial and fair competitive bidding process, by which the licenses are awarded. This competitive bidding process was sullied by the Department's abrogation of NRS Chapter 453D's provisions. This resulted in some applicants being awarded licenses that they were not entitled to, and in some entities being denied licenses that they should have been awarded. Thus, this injury is directly related and arising out of the Department's passage of regulations that directly contravene the enabling statute.

Moreover, NRS 30.040 grants ETW Plaintiffs standing to have the district court declare their rights under NRS Chapter 453D. Additionally, NRS 34.160 gives ETW Plaintiffs statutory standing to seek writ relief from the district court to ensure that the Department follows NRS Chapter 453D. As such, several statutes also give ETW Plaintiffs independent statutory standing to bring this lawsuit.

Greenmart adds another argument that is completely irrelevant to the case at hand. Greenmart argues that NRS Chapter 233B.130 bars ETW Plaintiffs from bringing a petition for judicial review because (1) the application process was not a contested case; and (2) ETW Plaintiffs did not identify every affected party as required by NRS 233B.130.

This argument is completely irrelevant to the case at hand. ETW Plaintiffs, at this stage in the litigation in district court, had not brought a petition for judicial

review. See RA Vol. III, at 0494. Greenmart erroneously states that ETW Plaintiffs included a petition for judicial review prior to the preliminary injunction order and cites to the TGIG Parties' operative complaint. See Greenmart AOB 29 (citing 29) Appellant's Appendix (AA) 7149-50). Admittedly, and with full candor to this Court, ETW Plaintiffs do allege a petition for judicial in their current operative complaint. But this is outside of the record on the current appeal. Moreover, the district court had not yet made any determination as to whether the petition for judicial review was proper in this instance in the record before this Court. As explained above, ETW Plaintiffs satisfy the standing requirements generally to bring their claims, as there is an injury based on the Department's alleged actions in eschewing the enabling statute when promulgating their regulations. As such, this Court need not delve into this issue here, and should decline to consider this argument.

Ultimately, ETW Plaintiffs are parties to a live controversy, which they are beneficially interested in, and thereby meet Nevada's standing requirement. ETW Plaintiffs also suffered an injury, by way of being a party to an application process that did not comply with NRS Chapter 453D and led to numerous illicit recreational marijuana licenses being issued. Thus, ETW Plaintiffs have standing.

D. The District Court did not Abuse its Discretion by Declining to Apply the Doctrine of Laches and Equitable Estoppel Does Not Bar ETW Plaintiffs' Claims.

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